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PROLOGUE


IN LATE 1932, IN THE KITCHENETTE OF A SMALL RUNDOWN FLAT in Sydney’s east, a woman prepares dinner. With a large knife she slices into a raw lamb shank, then chops vegetables. She scoops lard from the dripping jar, smears it on the meat, then drops it roughly onto a cooking tray with a metallic thud. The joint of lamb rolls facedown, and the bone protrudes awkwardly from one end. The woman flicks the gas tap, strikes a match and ignites the burners. Small blue flames glow within the warming oven, and she slides the tray inside.


Twilight is approaching but hasn’t yet begun to drain the heat from the day. It’s stuffy and cramped in this flat, and there’s barely room for a kitchen table, a sideboard, a free-standing stove, and two people. A man, much younger than the woman, sits at the table drawing heavily on a cigarette while he looks at a newspaper spread out before him. The ash slips from the end of his smoke, a light-grey snow falling across the column of job ads. The date on the corner of the broadsheet is Friday, 9 December. A bill addressed to Mr and Mrs Edwards lies unopened next to him.


The man sips a beer. The woman sits down at the table and begins applying porcelain-white make-up to her face with firm taps of a powder puff. The man drains his glass and fills it again. The woman holds up a cracked hand mirror and pencils in her eyebrows with severe, sharply curved black lines. Patting her cheeks with crimson rouge, she inspects her handiwork more closely, turning her head left to right.


The woman drops the powder puff, rushes to the oven and tugs open the door. A rush of hot air hits her freshly powdered face, although the room is already so warm she barely notices it. She sweeps the chopped potatoes and tomatoes from the countertop into her bare hands, and they clatter like rain on a tin roof as she drops them into the hot fat surrounding the meat in the cooking pan.


The woman returns to her make-up. The man sips a third beer.


At about 7 p.m. the couple share the meal. Within the hour, the woman has cleared and washed the plates, scrubbed the tray and put all the dishes away. She walks into the adjoining room and selects a forest-green dress from a small rack of coats and frocks. Around nine o’clock she slides into the dress, buttons it all the way up the front, slips into her two-tone black-and-white heels, and brushes and pins her hair neatly into curled rolls on either side of her head. Though it remains warm and humid outside, she pulls on an overcoat. After slamming the heavy wooden door of the terrace on Renny Street, Paddington, she walks the short distance up to Oxford Street, then heads down it for a kilometre or so to enter Greens Road.


The man goes to bed shortly after her departure. He doesn’t leave a light on for her.
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WHITE IRIS


IT WAS EARLY MORNING ON SATURDAY, 10 DECEMBER 1932 WHEN a forest-green dress was spotted, hooked in a spiky thicket of lantana in Queens Park. Nearby was a naked woman lying facedown on a bed of overgrown brambles and weeds, beneath a coral tree.


When local teenager Bernard Green saw the body, he did not, at first, believe his eyes. The air was still cool, and an unseasonal dreamlike mist hung in the valleys of the residential suburb of Waverley as he walked south, away from Bondi and towards Randwick. He’d taken this journey countless times before, and he was very familiar with the short cuts through back lanes, vacant lots and public parks. Coming down a steep hill towards Randwick, he always cut through the grove of coral trees in Queens Park because it was a little quicker and usually a little more pleasant than walking along the road.


The teenager didn’t see the body up close, and from a distance the skin seemed to glow eerily in the early morning light. When he realised with horror what he was looking at, he stopped dead in his tracks. He ran from the scene, heading towards the nearest household he knew had a telephone.


David Frame, the foreman of Centennial Park, was the next person to see the dead woman. He too had spied the body from some distance away, and as he approached he had time to consider the woman’s exposed back. Her petite frame and the stark white tone of her skin made her seem fragile, like bone china.


As he approached, he noticed details. Perhaps this was because he viewed the scene with a horticulturalist’s gaze, but how she was arranged within the scene seemed significant. Her hair looked like twisted willow as it emerged from the bed of bramble on which she rested. He pondered the strange positioning of the woman’s legs too. He narrowed his eyes in an attempt to see more clearly from such a long distance away. Her body seemed to be perfect and whole, but strangely plant-like. The woman’s knees were bent sharply, and her feet seemed to curl – the way petals might in protection of the reproductive organs of a blossoming flower. Frame could not tell if it was a trick of the early morning light, or due to the unusual pallor of the woman’s skin, but she looked like a flower. Her skin seemed to glow – radiating a white light – like an exotic bloom unfolding its beauty to receive the first rays of sunshine.


Frame didn’t panic as quickly as the teenager had. As he drew closer, he still wasn’t entirely convinced there was a problem. He often arrived at the park in the very early morning, and it wasn’t unusual to see curious things – especially at dawn on Saturday. Workers who’d partied on Friday night were known to stumble into Centennial Park or Queens or any of the green spaces throughout the eastern suburbs. They often woke late the next morning and stumbled home – still hangover-groggy, but now with heavy coats damp from a night of dewfall. Prostitutes were known to take clients to the park. Vagrants, too, used the park as a place to camp, at least until police moved them along. Park employees had become accustomed to seeing a side of the city that not many others saw.


The woman’s body was in an overgrown part of the park, and Frame had monitored the growth of coral trees in this area for years. Flourishing in the Sydney climate, the subtropical species had multiplied quickly and grown wild. The trees were broad and expansive, and they’d produced impressive canopies of claw-shaped, blood-red flowers. As Frame drew closer, the largest of the coral trees in this grove seemed to provide an eerily perfect backdrop for the scene. He was now so close to the body he could more properly comprehend the true horror of what was spread before him. This woman was not drunk, nor asleep, nor passed out. She had been rained on overnight, and this had not been enough to rouse her, and Frame could now see why.


Raindrops had not been able to wash away the large pools of blood dotted across the ground, and the clusters of red flowers in the branches overhead matched the blood puddled around the woman’s body.


Frame finally snapped into action. He ran to fetch the police.


•


The sun rose, bringing the temperature with it. By midmorning the suburb was stirring, its families ready to enjoy the summer weather.


At around 10.20 a.m. Detective Patrick Power of the Waverley police arrived with his kitbag, a constable in tow. Power was cautious as he walked towards the dead woman. By 1932 police were broadly aware of the need to collect and preserve evidence, and protocols were slowly emerging. Power knew not to touch the body, because wherever possible the medical examiner preferred to visit crime scenes and see the dead, and their position, first-hand.


The detective bent over the woman’s body and stared closely, his hands firmly clasped behind his back. He was soon left in no doubt about what had occurred. The attack had been brutal and close. It appeared she had been hit from behind and there were several angry triangular-shaped cuts in her head. Her skull was a mess of raw meat and exposed bone. There were pieces of what appeared to be blood and brain matter spattered around. The detective considered the position of the body. Two conclusions were easily drawn. She was lying on her face, so for the moment her identity would remain a mystery. And whatever had come for her, she hadn’t seen it coming – someone had struck her squarely from behind.


Power noticed pieces of evidence that would need to be gathered. A deep-green dress hung awkwardly in a lantana bush. A beret was on the ground. While these physical remnants were important, so too was the cartography of the crime. He stepped back to take in the whole scene. To his left was a high cliff with a grand view of the suburb; to his right, a half circle of coral trees in a sunken, scrubby grove. Thorny castor oil bushes and spiky lantana dotted the landscape. Alongside them, angry splotches of the victim’s blood were visible.


From his bag the detective removed a large bound diary and flipped it over notebook-style. He began to record his observations and speculations. By night, the darkness cast by the trees would have afforded protection to the killer, shielding their activities from the moonlight above and streetlight to the side. In broad daylight the space felt very open, with bright summer sunshine baking down on the body. Neat houses with trimmed hedges and lovingly tended flower beds were less than fifty metres from a brutally murdered woman. Children were tumbling out of their homes with footballs and cricket bats, billycarts and skipping-ropes. As the senior officer present, Power had to do something, and quickly. He directed the constable to clear the area around Victoria Street and to doorknock in the immediate vicinity of the crime scene – people needed to know that their dead-end street had quite literally lived up to its name, in the most macabre way possible. The body of the woman who had met her end here lay within clear line of sight of the row of white picket fences.


In 1932, the NSW police force believed it had put the best possible structure in place to support the study of complex crime. A Criminal Investigation Branch (CIB) of specialist detectives had been established to guide the examination of homicides in the state, and to develop and refine suspect interrogation and evidence analysis techniques. Some consider this the dawn of modern policing because the structures established in the late 1920s still exist today in the form of State Crime Command. The formation of the unit had emerged in response to a perceived rise in criminal activity in the 1920s which clustered in the inner east. More coordinated criminal threats – highly organised brothels, razor violence between rival gangs, and cocaine distribution – required a commensurate level of coordination by police in response. The state had committed time and money to training NSW detectives in what was believed to be best practice investigative techniques led by Scotland Yard mentors. Detectives had begun to embrace a more diverse range of methodological tools: fingerprinting, sketching, and plaster modelling were all slowly becoming embedded in police practice. By 1932 the CIB in Sydney had amassed such a vast database of fingerprints that high-level policy makers considered expanding it into a Commonwealth or federal bureau of fingerprinting.


As Power carefully examined the dead woman beneath the coral tree, police process was at the front of his mind. He made a note to take fingerprints. If the woman had spent any time in police custody, even if she’d never been formally convicted, it was likely that an inky map of her fingertips was stored in the database.


Power removed a compass from his kitbag. He flipped it open with a flick of his wrist and placed it in the centre of his flattened palm. The woman’s face was pointed due west; significant or not, Power noted this too. He then paced out some rough distances, using his stride alone – from the tree, to the street, to the body. He sketched the scene, but he was no artist so it was rudimentary. He removed some small wooden stakes from his bag, each topped with a white flag, and pushed them firmly into the earth wherever he noticed a pool of blood. When he ran out of markers, he used paper from his notebook. He felt grateful for the stillness of the day – each piece fluttered down with the motion of a magic carpet, then stayed precisely where he’d intended.


He narrowed his focus, recording his observations with more detail now. After uncurling a measuring tape from his pocket, he noted the diameters of the blood pools. In the slightly prickly foliage of the nearby lantana, he measured the distance from the body to a singlet, the beret and a garter, and he noticed stockings that he’d overlooked on first surveying the scene. The deep-green dress was threadbare. He listed these details but left most items undisturbed. He did, however, scrape a number of blood-soaked leaves from the ground and pile them up nearby.


Behind him, from the direction of the street, he heard a car door slam, then two more. Detective Inspector William Pryor, head of the Criminal Investigation Branch, and Detective Inspector Jacob Henry Miller arrived, together with more constables. Shortly after, Detectives Campbell and Paton joined them. By eleven o’clock, five detectives had assembled in the grove of blood-red coral trees. The men bore an uncanny resemblance to each other: middle-aged, they wore heavy woollen dress suits complete with buttoned waistcoats and fedoras. They stood in a horseshoe shape, all eyes levelled at the dead woman splayed before them.


CIB Chief Pryor began directing questions at Power. ‘Do we know who she is?’


‘It’s possible she’s a vagrant,’ the detective answered. ‘The state of her clothes is poorly. She may be one of the Greens Road girls who works the strip near the barracks.’


Power didn’t need to say anything further on that point: the strip was notorious in the inner city. Only a short drive away, behind the military barracks, it was a popular pick-up point for prostitutes. After peeling off Moore Park Road, a car could slow to a crawl as it moved along the strip. A young woman need only lean into an open window briefly, then jump in just before the driver sped away. Greens Road was the sex industry’s equivalent of a fast food drive-through: transactions were quick and cheap, product was taken away to be consumed elsewhere, and extras could be added to upsell an order and meet a customer’s unique tastes. Put coarsely, it was not fast food but fast fucks for sale. These business deals could be completed in back seats, but more commonly occurred in public parks.


As Power updated the other detectives, he pointed between the crime scene and his notebook. ‘I took possession of the clothing and some leaves that had blown on them. They were in a pool of blood near the coral tree. It is a big tree so it covers a wide area … I did not find any bloomers.’


The detectives collectively took a breath and considered the possibilities. Was it significant to the investigation that the woman’s underwear was missing? Had this woman come to the park barely clothed? Had she dressed deliberately without underwear, to make sexual services easier to perform? Or had the killer taken the undergarments?


‘This looks very much like the other one,’ Power said, careful with his words. ‘It’s much like that White girl.’


Pryor folded his arms, his suit crumpling slightly. He looked at Power expectantly, waiting for more information. But none came.


‘We are still gathering evidence, sir, but there are some big similarities.’ Power glanced down at his sketch when he said this, realising in that moment how woefully inadequate his drawing must seem. ‘I think we need Jardine, sir,’ he said.


Pryor nodded. ‘Get him down here, would you?’ He tucked his meaty hands under his elbows, crossing his arms even more tightly over his chest. When his forehead wrinkled in thought, it seemed a perfect match for the wrinkles across his suit.


William Pryor was a caboose of a man, solid and wide and reliable, with a shag pile of black hair and a thick boomerang moustache balanced atop his rather large mouth. He had two nicknames in the force. Some called him William the Silent for his enduringly quiet but intensely strong presence. Others called him Father, because he had something of a reputation for paternal kindness and was known for giving officers a somewhat free hand in their investigations.


Pryor circumnavigated the woman’s body as he stared down at it, close enough that he seemed to be tracing her outline with his feet. He kept his arms folded in firmly against his body as he paced out the crime scene. He thought about the pathways from the road to the park, beyond to the high cliff wall and to the steep set of stairs leading up there. This was a relatively big crime scene, a vast space for the investigation to cover. It was very different from investigating a murder in the confines of a house.


‘Have we found anything in the form of a weapon?’ Pryor asked Power.


‘I’ve had constables fan out over the park, scanning the ground. The bramble is pretty thick. I’ve had the boys doorknocking locally as well. It might have been thrown over a fence.’


Pryor nodded, smoothing his moustache with his thumb and forefinger as he thought.


At 11.20 a.m. Dr Arthur Palmer arrived at the crime scene. As a medical practitioner and government officer, Palmer had the responsibility of performing the autopsy in order to formally determine cause of death. Before the removal of the body to the morgue, he’d come to analyse the scene. How was the body found, and where? How was it positioned? He wanted to answer these questions for himself and use that information to build an understanding of the cause and manner of death.


More detectives arrived, their cars packed with equipment. The visibility of this place was increasing, and word of the crime had now spread throughout the suburb. Constables had stopped people from gathering near the body. They’d been unable to prevent spectators from watching if they assembled much further away. A long line of gawkers now stood single file atop the high sandstone wall because of the remarkable vantage point it offered of the entire scene. A mother stood with her hip on an angle, bearing the weight of a child on one arm, while with her other arm she shielded her eyes from the glare of the sun. A line of women stood beside her, the chintz and chequered prints on their dresses bold against the backdrop of the solid blue sky. Men had gathered too; they were dressed casually, many without hats or coats. One man seemed particularly forward – he’d walked halfway down the hill and was leaning over a white handrail to take in a close view of the action. He had a toddler with him, and the little boy swung on the handrail playfully, using it as a monkey bar. His father was seemingly oblivious to the horror of what his son was being exposed to. The dead woman’s legs were spread, vulgarly displayed. The crowd simply stared with fascination into the valley of coral trees, no longer a grove but an open grave.


Power gazed up at the crowd, frustrated, then stomped off to a police car parked nearby. He returned carrying a white tarp, like a sail, which he unfolded and began pegging over the lantana to obscure visibility of the scene, at least a little. It isn’t clear whether he took this step to preserve some professional discretion and privacy for the medical examiner, who was setting up to begin his examination, or as a meagre gesture of respect for the dead woman.


At first Palmer didn’t touch the body – this stage was about observation of the corpse in context. Like other witnesses that morning, Palmer noticed the stunning whiteness of the flesh. He wasn’t transfixed by its strangeness. He immediately recognised it as pallor mortis: the first stage of death, when white skin turns unusually pale.


As he worked he spoke to Power, who added medical details to the observations he’d recorded in his notebook.


Palmer leant in close to the body. ‘There are scratches on the neck, blows to the head.’ He moved locks of hair here and there in the manner of a fastidious hairdresser, careful not to shift the body in any significant way.


Power scrawled a crude outline of the dead woman and made notes very inexpertly, with arrows pointing to different parts of the body.


The medical examiner said, ‘The wounds and their placement suggest she was bludgeoned from behind. The depressed fractures have a strange shape. Perhaps a tyre lever has caused the injuries. That isn’t clear, though.’ He removed measuring tape from his bag and dropped one end on the ground near the woman’s feet. ‘She is only a little over five foot tall.’ Palmer had managed to calculate this even though her legs were bent. ‘I have no way of weighing her here, but I estimate she is around seven stone.’


The men nodded, both coming to the same conclusion: the woman was so tiny that almost any man could have overpowered her fairly easily.


Two constables entered the scene, one of whom was Cecil Stanley Jardine. Under one arm he carried the past of policing, and under the other he carried its future: respectively, a large flat clipboard, an artist’s folder and field box, and a camera, a case and a small folding-seat. The other constable was carrying a ladder and a camera tripod. The men unloaded the equipment onto the ground, not far from the dead woman’s feet.


Palmer nodded stiffly and formally to the constables, but said nothing to them.


‘Palmer won’t be long,’ said Power to Jardine.


The medical examiner continued. ‘Head wounds are triangular.’ He paused, staring deeply into the incisions. They were jagged and oddly shaped. Whatever the woman had been struck with had etched rune-like markings onto her head. He looked carefully, trying to divine their meaning.


Jardine walked silently, conscious of not distracting Palmer. He mentally tallied how many photos would need to be taken.


‘There is brain there.’ Palmer continued to call out observations while jotting things down in his own notebook. It wasn’t dandruff that flaked through her dark hair but powdery shards of skull. ‘It’s protruding through the hair,’ he added. ‘Look for something hard, sharp edges. A stone, perhaps, as a weapon? She has been struck with some force,’ he said with a tone of finality. He stepped back from the body, walked around it, leant right down to ground level and stared, almost as if he were trying to look the woman in the eye. ‘I will know more when I have a closer examination, but I can tell you for certain – there was intercourse.’ He stepped back again and wiped sweat from his forehead with the back of his hand. ‘Okay, if you take the photo, I can get started with moving her.’


Pryor, who’d been watching the scene silently, nodded for Jardine to proceed. He stepped in and, with the help of the other constable, unfolded a long ladder. He took several photographs: the crowd, the detectives assembled beneath the tree, a line of palm trees in a street, and the grove of coral trees.


With a colleague steadying the ladder for him, Jardine climbed to the very top rung to get one shot of the body; he then climbed way down, lying flat on the bramble at ground level to get the other. Both images glimmer with the otherworldly silver quality distinctive to early twentieth century photography. One shot is particularly confronting. The woman’s feet are in the foreground and her head is in the background. With her legs awkwardly bent at the knees and her feet turned and then twisted ever so gently outwards like petals, she does indeed look like a strange flower. The woman’s genitals, like the swollen pistil of a flower, are the dead centre of the image. The woman’s own hand, coated in filth, lies trapped beneath her body. Her hand emerges, as if from the ground, clawing towards her own vulva. It is as if the dead woman herself is trying to leave some clue to the reason for her death. The crime was about sex.


It is unlikely the police photographer would have recognised the artistic mimicry he was engaged in when he took the photo on that day. A few years before, the American artist Georgia O’Keeffe had shocked the world with her modernist studies of flowers. In 1926 she’d released what would become one of her most famous oil paintings: Black Iris. An intense study of an iris, it is painted predominantly in black, grey and white, with faint touches of pink and deep purple. White folds at the top merge with the darkened folds of petals in the lower portion. The painting is almost universally regarded by art critics to be a vulva, barely disguised as a flower. Though O’Keeffe’s work was not exhibited in Australia, commentaries on her work and the study of geometry, symmetry and sexuality it embodied were given extensive coverage in the press at the time. In a strange way, the constable had created his own, perhaps more clinical, representation and homage to a defining artwork of the generation. It might be said that both are artefacts of the early twentieth century: a time when the female body emerged as a subject of intimate study both artistic and forensic.


Once Jardine’s work was done, it was time to take fingerprints. Two junior officers struggled to free the arm trapped beneath the torso. Her limbs were stiffened with rigor mortis, and the rotation of her hands also proved a two-man job. Digit by digit, they rolled her fingertips across an inky piece of tin. The prints were rushed to the CIB for analysis. Its extensive database was stored on index cards in filing cabinets, and arches, loops and whorls were used as shorthand to accelerate the searching process. Police had been remarkably quick at coding and mapping the peaks and valleys of the human finger. They were also continually refining the methods used to take fingerprints.


The woman in the park had been able to keep her fingers; other recent victims had not. In the past when bodies had been found exposed in the outdoors, Sydney police had been required to innovate when taking prints. The geographic location of Sydney as a harbour city could even be said to have led to the innovation, as bodies were so often found in water. Soaked corpses complicated forensics, particularly fingerprinting. In one case, the fingers had been snipped from the hand at the crime scene, so they might be studied more closely in a lab. In another case, investigators had managed to strip the print from a finger as if unsheathing a latex glove from a hand.


At CIB headquarters on that day in December, it didn’t take long to match the fingerprints with the name May Miller. Police weren’t surprised by this: May was a common trading name for prostitutes who conducted business in the inner city and the east.


Back at the crime scene, Constable Jardine began sketching. He removed a tin of art pens, of varying widths and tips, a tin of colouring pencils, and a small screw-top jar of water with a tiny pot of watercolour paint. He pulled out a piece of thickly woven art paper, around the size of an A4 sheet, and slid it into a clipboard.


That year he’d supported police briefs of evidence across many important cases around the state. He’d been dispatched to draft landscape maps in Bathurst to support a murder investigation. He’d also been one of the technical experts behind the production of a radical new approach to the prevention of fencing stolen goods across the city. High-end jewellery had traditionally been documented by text alone; Jardine had meticulously sketched every piece from all the finest jewellers in the city, and police now carried a small booklet of these items as a field guide for easy identification. It was tiny, just eight inches by four, contained a thousand illustrations, and was cleverly designed to fit neatly within an officer’s vest pocket. Jardine was now well known to be a ‘clever pen and ink illustrator’.


No doubt less vibrant than they were eighty years ago, the hand-drawn sketches of the crime scene remain exquisite. Tiny crosshatch marks are used to show texture and shadow. Hedges are delicate curls. Little street lamps glow yellow, streaked with lines to signify illumination. A water wash in pale green signifies grassed areas, a coral-peach has been used for the cottages, a slate grey shows the depth of the drop from the cliff, and a lighter pastel blue-grey represents the streets. If you could view these drawings absent from the violent and debased events that spawned them, they would seem quaint and childlike.


•


By the time officers were packing up and getting ready to leave the crime scene, more information had come to hand about the victim. Criminal records had flowed from the name May Miller. Though she was in her early thirties, her first conviction had occurred only a few years before in 1929. This was an unusual criminal resumé for a prostitute in the 1920s and 30s, as many started in this profession at a horrifyingly early time in life. It seemed that May had been a late bloomer.


The charges against May show a distinct pattern. In the five years she worked the inner city, thirteen convictions were recorded against her. Eight were for the cryptic charge of ‘offensive behaviour’. This doesn’t give much insight into May as a person, because offensive behaviour charges were laid against people for everything from blowing a trumpet on a public street to wolf-whistling at girls. They were often laid against women for swearing, and this was most likely the case with May. Two offences were for soliciting, and one was broadly described as ‘riotous behaviour’ (though the details of the criminal act were not recorded). The most serious charge, first brought against her in 1929, was for grievous bodily harm. She was convicted and served twelve months. Very soon after her release she was sent down again for the same charge.


The criminal records tell only part of her story – police interviews with locals, which commenced the day after her death, reveal a lot more. It seems there was no shortage of people willing to share gossip about her. In one version of a story, she’d tried to bite off a man’s ear; in another version, she had succeeded. The man was a taxi driver, and apparently his lobe had been taken clear off.


May Miller’s records contain one last, but very important, detail – her real name. Given how she was found, and the intimacy of the images taken of her de-flowered corpse, her first name seems not only poignant but fitting.


Her name wasn’t May, but Iris.


Iris Marriott.
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WHITE, HILDA


IRIS WASN’T THE FIRST WOMAN TO BE STRIPPED AND BRUTALISED in a public park in Sydney’s east. She wasn’t even the first woman to die in this way that year.


In December 1932, in black cursive script, ‘Marriott, Iris’ was neatly handwritten as a new entry in the official Register of Coroner’s Inquests. In the same column, and only a few lines up the page, coronial staff had entered ‘White, Hilda’.


At about 7 a.m. on Wednesday, 27 July 1932, a Centennial Park worker walking behind the kiosk and past the stables found Hilda’s naked body. She was face up between a park bench and the base of a Moreton Bay fig. With the exception of a few torn shreds of clothing, she was naked except for her beads and shoes.


In the days following the discovery of Iris Marriott, local police reflected on the many similarities between her case and that of Hilda White. But although the detectives must have discussed and compared the cases, no minutes were kept of these meetings.


Hilda had been thirty-three years old, and although Iris’s age was more difficult to determine, she was also believed to be thirty-three. Both women had been murdered at night. Their bodies had been discovered in the early hours of the morning on opposite corners of a green space in the eastern suburbs: Hilda in Centennial Park, and Iris in adjoining Queens Park. At the time, Centennial was a large-scale public reserve of over 350 hectares, designed to provide visitors with the opportunity to relax away from the stresses of city life while strolling beside ornamental gardens and fountains, or wandering through forests of exotic trees.


In life, the women appeared to have had a lot in common. Both had struggled to find work and make ends meet. Iris, in particular, had experienced hardship. She’d used the name May Miller for professional convenience and to separate her working life from her private one. To make the tale more convincing and reduce the risk of discovery, she’d even created a backstory for May: May Miller had migrated from Ireland; May Miller had no living family. The truth was quite different. Iris Marriott had come to Sydney from Fremantle in Western Australia. Iris Marriott had living relatives – in fact, she’d left Western Australia in the company of family. And when she’d arrived in Sydney in 1922, she wasn’t alone: she was carrying a child.


Iris had two sisters still living in Western Australia, and they’d been willing to confirm some facts to the police. An illegitimate child had been born at some point in 1922. Details about the baby were difficult to confirm, as the birth and the years following were shrouded in secrecy. Iris had relinquished the child – a girl – and she’d been raised with the belief she was an orphan. And, in a sense, she had lost her parents: her father wasn’t in the picture, and Iris Marriott had become May Miller. It was May who had worked hard for a decade to bring in extra money. It was May who had dutifully paid for the upkeep of the child. It was May who had died with the stigma of being a prostitute, and with no real recognition that she’d been nobly trying to make provision for her child in the only way she knew how.


Hilda White had also faced significant challenges. Described as ‘feeble’ and ‘weak-minded’, she’d likely had an intellectual disability. She’d found it difficult to find steady work. Hilda had been living at home with her widowed mother and her siblings, two sisters and a brother. When she was murdered, the family had already faced a major tragedy that year – her sister had recently died of tuberculosis.


Very early on in the investigations, those closest to each of the women were interviewed then dismissed as possible suspects. Hilda’s family members weren’t under suspicion, and she was characterised as being a fairly solitary, lonely character who didn’t have a boyfriend. Iris lived with her lover, a 23-year-old man called Stanley McGroder. The depressed economy had made unlikely bedfellows of the pair. McGroder was a labourer, and at the time of Iris’s death he hadn’t worked in two years. Construction was one of the industries heavily affected by the slowed economy, while Iris’s line of work had proven to be a little more recession proof. The couple had moved into the cramped front-room flat of 53 Renny Street, Paddington, about eighteen months earlier, and had been calling themselves Mr and Mrs Edwards. Iris had financially supported McGroder throughout much of that time. He was an alcoholic, and police saw him as hopeless. He wasn’t ever considered seriously as a suspect. He told police, ‘She stayed in the house until about 8 p.m. … then got dressed and went out. I did not know where she was going at the time. The next time that I saw her was at the City Morgue.’


Both Hilda and Iris had been prostitutes. While Hilda had never faced a soliciting charge, Iris had faced several. Interviews with locals suggested that Hilda had been seen with men in areas known for soliciting. A newspaper article printed at the time of her death alluded to this: ‘Hilda White had many men friends of whom her mother and sisters and brother were unaware. She was a great favourite with some of the members of the Permanent Military Forces … She was often seen in the company of soldiers.’ Another newspaper printed indiscreet details about Hilda’s nocturnal activities in the eastern suburbs: ‘The woman had known many men, and it is thought that she was probably lured to the park for some reason, and killed after being there a short time.’ Shortly after Iris’s death, an article made comparisons between both the women and the crimes: ‘The crime bears a curious resemblance to the killing of Hilda White, a girl of somewhat similar habits and age … And the men of the CIB are asking themselves whether there is a murderous maniac.’


Both women were found naked. Hilda’s underwear was jammed under her chin; Iris’s was missing. Both had endured horrible brutality in their last moments. The medical examiner Dr Palmer recorded in his formal notes that Iris had been hit so violently, he’d simply lifted fragments of bone from the brain with his fingers. In some places, the only thing keeping the skull in place was the blood-matted hair. Palmer stated that it wasn’t possible to determine which had been the fatal blow, nor precisely how the murderer and victim were positioned at the time of the attack. ‘Any one of the wounds could have been caused while she was standing on her feet. I should say that most of them were caused while she was lying on her face,’ he noted. There were no strikes to the forehead, and there were scratches and abrasions over the lower part of the back. He determined that someone had killed Iris with ‘a piece of wood’.


Photos of Hilda taken soon before her death show a woman with a smooth, broad face, perfectly curved lips around a wide smile, and almond-shaped eyes. She had a beauty mark just off centre above her lip and, with a cloche cap pulled down around her ears to frame her face, she resembled a silent movie star, not dissimilar to Marlene Dietrich.


Hilda didn’t look like this when she was found. Based on her injuries, police conjectured that the attacker had ‘punched [her] insensible’ with a closed fist. Her jaw was busted up, and her lips were cut. However, police believed she’d been awake when the attacker strangled her, choking her with her underwear hard enough to crush her throat. In her desperate struggle to free herself, she’d chomped her jaws violently, biting her tongue repeatedly. The inside of her mouth resembled mince. A bone in her throat had been fractured. Hilda had fought very hard to live.


Hilda’s hands and nails were coated in thick dark muck. Her body was black and bloody, and in places police had to scrape back the film of scum to see if the discolouration was superficial or due to bruising. Groundskeepers provided important context by explaining key details about the park. Hilda had died in an area where garden beds had only recently been dressed with topsoil, and almost all of the discolouration on her body could be explained by this. She had writhed and struggled and clawed wildly in the fresh, soft soil as she battled for her life.


Her empty handbag was found tossed not far from her body. Police looked for signs of robbery and ultimately deemed the evidence to be inconclusive. They believed Hilda could have been carrying an empty bag, as she had little money of her own. Police also couldn’t explain how her clothes had been torn from her body. It was winter, and she’d left home wearing a lot of clothing, including an overcoat. Was it possible she had removed it herself? If the killer had ripped it off, where had it gone?


Initially, at least, police were unwilling to call Hilda’s death a murder, despite the condition of the corpse. Police speculated that cars had been used to drive the women to the sites where they were ultimately murdered. In Hilda’s case police believed they’d found evidence of a struggle closer to the roadway, based on foot impressions in the soil. From there it appeared she’d been carried, at least part of the way, and the struggle seemed to have continued at the place where she ultimately died. In an interview with The Sun in the month following Hilda’s death, police revealed they were exploring the possibility that her strangling had been accidental. According to this theory, Hilda had experienced a violent seizure, and whoever had accompanied her that evening had sought to restrain her. Police conjectured that the tragedy may have occurred because the good Samaritan had exercised ‘more pressure than he intended’. Police speculated about how this had led to the abandonment of the body: ‘with no intention of killing her, he had fled terrified’.


Hilda’s investigation was fragmented, partly due to over-delegation. Many officers within the CIB had handled many different parts of the investigation, and this had spawned many theories. Detective Sergeants Keogh and Barratt had been frontrunners in managing the crime scene, while Detective Sergeants Power, James and Shields processed paperwork, posting rewards and analysing information. Detective Sergeants Matthews and Burns began house-to-house doorknocking, drumming up witnesses who might have seen Hilda with a man on the night of her murder. Detective Power and Detective Inspector Pryor were the only officers in common to both investigations.


In Centennial Park, Detective Barratt looked at shoe impressions left in the dark earth just near Hilda’s body. He noted: ‘poor man’s shoe’. Because of the size and the flat, wide impression of the heel, officers assumed the shoes belonged to a man. They also surmised that he must be poor: the imprint of the soles offered little in the way of a pattern because they were worn down.


While canvassing for witnesses, James and Shields were stopped by someone in East Darlinghurst who said that yes, they’d seen Hilda out in the company of a man, just near the park, at about eight on the night of the murder. The detectives were hopeful until the witness said it had been so dark, they couldn’t provide much of a description. The witness had noticed one detail: Hilda’s companion had worn a yellow overcoat. Police then went to the apartment block where Hilda lived with her family, on Liverpool Street in Darlinghurst.


It’s difficult to follow the deductive steps that led to the identification of a suspect, as no records are available to provide insight. What’s known is that officers arrested a man living in the same apartment block as the White family. His name was Victor Francis Lamerto, but he also may have gone by the names Januschansky or Jamuschersky. He was Russian and had very little English literacy, so he struggled to understand what was happening to him. It was rumoured that he worked as a driver for a local eastern suburbs family, though this was difficult for police to confirm. It had taken about ten days for officers to locate and corner a suspect in a yellow overcoat. Although his arrest had been swift, there was no physical evidence linking him to the crime scene and no witness statement identifying him as the man seen with Hilda. Neighbours in the apartment block said that Lamerto and Hilda hadn’t known each other. The arrest was made based on only one piece of evidence: the man owned a yellow overcoat.


Police interrogated Lamerto, who denied his involvement in the crime. They then put forward their evidence brief to the City Coroner, Mr E May. It’s hard not to view the decision to arrest Lamerto with immense cynicism. While there was a significant Russian community in Sydney at the time, the Anglo majority tended to view Continental European immigrants poorly and with deep suspicion as ‘foreigners’. The coroner responded in a way police hadn’t expected: he was furious. He rejected any suggestion that Lamerto had any involvement whatsoever. He ordered the man be discharged due to lack of evidence and publicly shamed the police for the poor brief provided for his consideration. He returned an open verdict.


•


To fully understand why so much fragmentation surrounded Hilda’s investigation, it’s important to acknowledge some of the challenges faced by police at the time. The department had a backlog of homicides. It had been a busy year for the NSW CIB, and April had been particularly so. One newspaper had mockingly declared April to be the month of murder. Described as ‘mysterious murders’, Iris’s and Hilda’s deaths were considered particularly tricky because motive was difficult to determine in each case. They weren’t domestic homicides linked to family disputes, but appeared to have been committed by strangers.


William Pryor had been appointed CIB chief on 30 March. ‘Big jobs for new chief,’ reported one newspaper. By the end of April, another newspaper stated that there was no doubt Pryor had ‘his hands full’.


On 17 March, Katherine Sims was stabbed and slashed in a home invasion in Erskineville. Gendered assumptions significantly impeded the investigation. The attack on Katherine had been violent and had occurred in her own house, and there were no witnesses. In less than a week, police had concluded that the type of personal violence showed that Katherine must have been the victim of what they called ‘a love tragedy’. Police supposed her lover had killed her, and with nothing to live for had gone off somewhere to kill himself. Because of this assumption, resources were pulled off the case a week after the murder occurred. It was considered a poor use of time and energy to search for a man who was most likely dead. According to the Labor Daily newspaper:




There is none of the feverish excitement and tenseness of the man hunt associated with murders in this case. The men who were assigned to the case are now engaged in other duties. But in case the murderer of Mrs Sims still lives and is in hiding the following description is supplied by the CIB: 48 years of age, 5ft 6in, medium to stout build, round shouldered, very dark complexion, dark bristly hair turning grey, small dark eyes with a cast in the left one which shows the white, medium to full face, thin lips, good set of natural teeth, though well spaced and discoloured, being black near the gums, clean shaven, has a fresh cut on one thumb. Dressed in blue over-check pattern worsted coat and trousers, greyish coloured felt hat, black boots, no vest and coat is torn up the back.





On 11 April, Dorothy Denzel and Frank Wilkinson, a young couple, were discovered in Holsworthy, a wild and bushy south-western suburb. They’d been buried in separate graves, about three quarters of a mile apart, in dense scrub near a timber-getter’s camp. Dorothy had been stripped naked, and her face was so battered that she was almost unrecognisable. Portions of her skull were found twenty feet from the grave. At the local army remount depot, where horses were bred and trained, a worker found the upper plate of her false teeth. Both Dorothy and Frank had been killed at close range with a shotgun.


Next came the murder of Victor Saywell, who was attacked in bed in his Bellevue Hill home and died a few days later on 25 April. Although there were no leads, police could not let the case slide. Saywell was a prominent solicitor and a man of influence in the city. Coronial proceedings were even delayed to give police more time to identify a suspect. Despite their efforts, the police failed to formulate a robust narrative about what had occurred. By the time the inquest was held five months later (an uncharacteristically long period between murder and inquest in 1932) – the police still hadn’t formulated any concrete theories. As it had during the investigation into Hilda White’s death, xenophobia played a role in police reflections on the case. A report in the Telegraph summed up these theories well: ‘Foreigner may have murdered Victor Saywell’.


In Glen Innes, almost six hundred kilometres north of Sydney, a fifth mysterious homicide occurred that required the specialist skills of the CIB. On 26 April, dairy farmer Albert Victor Chaffey was found dead with a bullet hole in the back of his neck. The leather pouch in which he carried his change was missing, so robbery appeared to be the motive. His murder was a brutal and shocking event, not only to locals, but to the state executive. Though Chaffey had been a struggling farmer when he was killed, he also happened to be a cousin of the Chief Secretary of New South Wales. Police felt intense pressure to resolve the case. For the CIB detectives who had to commute great distances in order to progress the investigation, the case was an immense challenge. After weeks and weeks of frustrating travel back and forth from Sydney to Glen Innes, a suspect was found – an ex-employee who was familiar with Chaffey’s milk run and knew when the man was likely to be alone.


The apparent murder of homeless man Michael Desmond occurred on the night of 26 April, before Pryor had even completed his first month on the job. Aged approximately fifty, Desmond had been killed with an axe in a woodland glade on the outskirts of the national park near Sutherland. The area had become a shantytown for the city’s unemployed. Desmond’s body was found at the entrance of a canvas humpy. A sleeping woman was spooning the corpse, seemingly unaware that he had passed on.


There is no doubt that the workload of all of these simultaneous cases overwhelmed the CIB. The investigation into Desmond’s death can only be described as chaotic. When his body was discovered, there were eight men and two women identified as living at the camp. Police scavenged the site for items that might support a murder charge. A woman’s handbag and hat were taken, so too were three bottles of wine and a jar of methylated spirits. A copy of the 1929 short-story collection Circumstantial Evidence by Edgar Wallace, which was being read by one of the other homeless men, was also held by police.


The detectives in charge quickly developed a theory: Desmond had been killed during a drunken orgy, therefore every person present was a suspect. The camp’s residents – all of whom appeared to be alcoholics – were rounded up and taken into custody. Tempers flared when officers made these arrests, and the situation worsened while the suspects were sobering up in custody. Their cells resounded with abuse and threats – and that was just an officer telling the prisoners to shut up. When individuals were pressed for information, the situation escalated even further. While being interrogated, one man managed to reef a typewriter right off the interview table. It was an impressive effort, given that the style of typing machines at the time could crush a human foot. Police were livid: the machine was broken, its metal keys snapped and bent. A short time later, enraged at the accusations being levelled at him, another interviewee grabbed an inkwell and bowled it overarm and with great precision at a constable’s head.


The CIB was stretched to its limits. While constables were dispatched to doorknock at multiple locations across the south of the city canvassing for witnesses, police were also trying to deepen the science of their work as best they could. In the case of Chaffey’s murder, the medical examiner extracted the bullet from the back of the victim’s head. Police couldn’t forensically match a bullet casing to a specific weapon, though they could match it to the style of weapon used. They posted officers along the rivers and roads leading into and out of Glen Innes, and they demand-searched individuals and vehicles looking for the type of rifle used to kill Chaffey. It was a labour-intensive way to investigate and meant the investment of hundreds of man hours.


Constable Cecil Jardine mapped out the crime scenes in a formal and technical way. For the Saywell murder, he also brought his scientific and artistic skills to bear in drawings of the interior fixtures of the home along with a detailed floor plan.


There’s no doubt Sydney police had a heavy caseload in 1932, and their exhaustion might help to explain why they failed to solve Hilda White’s murder or link it to Iris Marriott’s. But it appears that at least one other factor was involved: the investigations weren’t just steered by the nature of the crimes, but also by the nature of the victims and the circumstances of their deaths. The authorities viewed Hilda and Iris as immoral. The women had been plying their trade on the nights they were killed, said police. For this reason, their deaths were acknowledged to be difficult to solve and represented a lower order of priority for CIB detectives.


This may explain why several preceding murders in and around Sydney also remained unsolved by police. These crimes bore many similarities to the murders of Hilda and Iris. A pattern of what at the time were known as ‘lust killings’, albeit a sporadic one, had been established long before 1932.
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